JUL 25 1004

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Debuty Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#84029

ARTHUR LEVINE, etc., et al.,
Petitioners,

-versus-

UNITED COMPANIES LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
Respondent.

On Appeal from the a decision of the Third District Court of Appeals Case No. 93-1404

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

Paul D. Friedman
Florida Bar no.: 266493
A. Margaret Hesford
Florida Bar no.: 907936
Friedman, Rodriguez & Ferraro, P.A.
2300 Miami Center
201 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-4329
(305) 377-4100

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case concerns a commercial mortgage loan transaction evidenced by a note (the "Note") and guaranteed by Petitioners. The Note provided for both a prepayment penalty and the highest lawful rate of interest on default, and also contained a "usury savings" provision. On default, Respondent demanded both the prepayment penalty and default rate interest of 25% per annum, the combination of which Petitioners maintained produced an interest rate in excess of that permitted by Florida law. When Petitioners sought to amend their defenses to include a defense of usury, leave of court was denied.

The failure to grant leave to amend was raised on appeal. Respondent contended that it was not an abuse of discretion to deny leave to amend in order to assert a futile defense. In support thereof, Respondent proffered the "usury savings" provision in the Note and Forest Creek Development Co. v. Liberty Savings & Loan Association, 531 So. 2d 356, 357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), for the proposition that the usury savings provision precluded a finding of usury. Petitioners argued that Forest Creek was wrongly decided, lacked any analysis in support of its holding, and did not take into account pertinent Florida law. The Third District Court, relying on Forest Creek, agreed with Respondent's point of view.

Petitioners' notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on July 13, 1994.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court held in this case that, since the Note contained language expressly stating that "interest was to be charged only at a lawful percentage," such was sufficient to render Petitioners' usury defense legally insufficient.

This decision of the Third District Court cannot be reconciled with the decision of the Fourth District Court in <u>Jersey-Palm Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly 1455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), wherein the court held that the inclusion of such language did not preclude, as a matter of law, a finding of usury. Thus, Petitioners contend that the decision of the Third District Court expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District Court.

This decision, like the <u>Forest Creek</u> opinion on which it is premised, thus eviscerated the language of Florida's usury laws, which prescribe that:

any person making an extension of credit to any person, who shall willfully and knowingly charge, take, or receive interest thereon at a rate exceeding 25 percent per annum . . . shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree . . . [and] no extension of credit made in violation of any of the provisions of this section shall be an enforceable debt in the courts of this state.

^{§§ 687.071(2), (3),} Fla. Stat. (1994) (emphasis added).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law. FLA. CONST. art. 5, § 3(b)(3); FLA. R. APP. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

Respondent may argue that the Court should refuse to accept jurisdiction in this case, because the appellate court determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing -- prior to fully adjudicating Respondent's pending summary judgment application -- Petitioners' leave to amend their defenses to assert usury. Petitioners respectfully assert that, when read in context, the Third District Court found no abuse of discretion in denying leave to amend precisely because concluded, relying on Forest Creek, that the usury savings language in the Note precluded the assertion of the defense of usury, rendering amendment futile. See, e.g., Spradley v. Stick, 622 So. 2d 610, 613 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (abuse of discretion to refuse to allow amendment <u>unless</u> "amendment would be futile."); <u>Foman v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S. Ct. 227, 230, 9 L.Ed.2d 222 (1962) Moreover, Florida law specifically provides for "such jurisdiction as may be necessary for a complete determination of the cause." Rule 9.040, Fla. R. App. P. (emphasis added). Thus, this Court is empowered, on accepting jurisdiction, to completely determine all issues raised.

ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Jersey-Palm Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly 1455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)

This Court's discretionary jurisdiction is properly invoked where decisions of district courts of appeal expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. FLA. CONST. art. V, § 3(b)(3); Rule 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv). In considering jurisdiction, this Court's concern:

is with the decision under review as a legal precedent to the end that conflicts in the body of the law of this State will be reduced to an absolute minimum and the law announced in the decision of the appellate courts of this State shall be uniform throughout.

N & L Auto Parts Co. v. Doman, 117 So. 2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1960).

In this case, the Third District Court of Appeal emphasized that the Note "expressly stated that interest was to be charged only at a lawful rate." Levine v. United Cos. Life Ins. Co., 19 Fla. L. Weekly 1293, 1293 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). The court then relied on Forest Creek Development Co. v. Liberty Savings & Loan Association, 531 So. 2d 356, 357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 541 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1989), for the proposition that usury savings language "has been held to warrant dismissal of a usury claim." Levine, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at 1293. Finally, the Levine court considered "harmless" the trial court's ruling refusing to award

the prepayment penalty, "since the court effectuated the parties' expressed intent that a usurious rate not be charged or received."

Id. at 1294.³ In so doing, the appellate court apparently tacitly admitted that, had the <u>Levine</u> court not held the usury savings language to have precluded a finding of usury, usury indeed existed.⁴

In <u>Jersey-Palm Gross</u>, <u>Inc. v. Paper</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly 1455 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's determination of usury, concluding that "[t]he existence of a `usury savings clause' did not preclude, as a matter of law, a finding of usury." <u>Id.</u> at 1455. The loan in that case also contained usury savings language, which, as in <u>Levine</u>, was asserted to prevent any determination of usury.

The <u>Jersey-Palm Gross</u> court analyzed usury law meticulously, in the course of which it noted the <u>Forest Creek</u> holding that "the usury count was properly dismissed because of the usury savings clause." <u>Jersey-Palm Gross</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at 1456 (<u>citing Forest Creek</u>). The Fourth District Court also stressed that the Fifth District Court in <u>Forest Creek</u> cited no authority in support

However, Florida law is violated merely by charging a usurious rate of interest. See § 687.071(2), Fla. Stat. (1994).

Petitioners' analysis and arguments presented during the appeal below presaged the analysis and holding announced in the Fourth District Court of Appeal's <u>Jersey-Palm Gross</u> decision.

of its extreme conclusion. <u>Jersey-Palm Gross</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at 1456. The Fourth District Court's exhaustive analysis plainly buttressed its determination that:

No other Florida case goes as far, and we expressly disagree with the blanket holding in Forest Creek.

Jersey-Palm Gross, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at 1456.

Levine, relying on Forest Creek, expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in Jersey-Palm Gross. Moreover, noting that to countenance Forest Creek would "grant commercial lenders automatic immunity from the reach of our state's usury statute so as to nullify its effect," Jersey-Palm Gross, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at 1457 (emphasis in original), the Jersey-Palm Gross court certified conflict with Forest Creek.

As a result, commercial financing transactions in Florida have been thrown into confusion. Currently, the rules for lenders and borrowers differ from one appellate judicial district to another regarding enforceability of usury savings language. Moreover, both lenders and borrowers are at a loss as to the effect of usury savings language and what, if any, reliance may be placed thereon. More significantly, legislative protections for borrowers have been negated.

As a result, Petitioners respectfully submit that, since this matter is of such significance to lenders and borrowers in this

state, the Supreme Court ought thus accept discretionary review and resolve the conflict.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the Court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of Petitioners' argument.

> FRIEDMAN, RODRIGUEZ & FERRARO, P.A. 2300 Miami Center 201 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4100