IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 1 5 1994

84,029

CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK

ARTHUR LEVINE, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

UNITED COMPANIES LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

Daniel S. Pearson
Lenore C. Smith
Lucinda A. Hofmann
HOLLAND & KNIGHT
701 Brickell Avenue
P. O. Box 015441
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 374-8500

Counsel for the Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

To finance their purchase of an office complex/shopping center, the petitioners -essentially a group investing on behalf of their individual pension or profit-sharing trusts -borrowed \$1,300,000 at 10.25% interest from the respondent, United Companies Life Insurance
Company ("United Companies"). When the petitioners defaulted on their loan, United
Companies sued (A1).¹ After more than a year and the entry of two partial summary judgments
against them, these borrowers, awaiting only the adjudication of the respondent's pending
application for final summary judgment of foreclosure, moved to amend their answer to
interpose the afterthought defense of usury.² Although this claimed usury defense was staring
them in the face from the first moment they looked at the complaint, the imminency of
foreclosure made them finally see that the default interest of the "highest lawful rate" (25%)
added to the prepayment penalty of 1% resulted in an effective interest rate of 26%, 1% over
the legal rate. The trial court rejected the amendment, and in its Summary Final Judgment of
Foreclosure and For Damages, awarded the default interest but not the prepayment penalty (A1).

The petitioners appealed and asserted, among other things, that the trial court abused its discretion in denying their motion to amend their answer to include the affirmative defense of

¹For the Court's convenience, we have included in an appendix to this brief a copy of the district court's decision as well as a copy of <u>Jersey Palm - Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1455 (Fla. 4th DCA July 6, 1994), the decision asserted to be in conflict. We will refer to the appendix as "(A)."

²Although the details of the petitioners' delay are not set out in the Third District's opinion, the petitioners' jurisdictional brief goes outside of the four corners of the decision to tell this Court that their motion for leave to amend and the trial court's denial of it came "prior to fully adjudicating Respondent's pending summary judgment application" (Petitioner's Brief at 3 n.2) (emphasis supplied). We have simply given content to the words "fully" and "pending summary judgment application."

usury (A1).³ The district court affirmed the denial of the motion to amend (A1-A2). The petitioners have now sought discretionary review of the district court's decision.

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE

Whether, as the petitioners assert, there is an express and direct conflict between the decision below and the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u>, <u>Inc. v. Paper</u>, 19 Fla L. Weekly D1455 (Fla. 4th DCA July 6, 1994).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioners urge this Court to take jurisdiction over this case based on conflict of decisions. But there is no conflict. In this case, the district court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the petitioners' motion to amend their pleadings to assert an affirmative defense of usury. This was its essential holding and it does not conflict with the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Jersey Palm - Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1455 (Fla. 4th DCA July 6, 1994), which found that under all the facts and circumstances of the case the trial court's finding of usury after a bench trial was supported by the evidence. Moreover, the denial of the petitioners' motion to amend was entirely in harmony with the decision in <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u>. This Court therefore lacks jurisdiction, and the petition should be denied.

³The borrowers also claimed the final judgment permitted United Companies to execute against the guarantors for the full amount of the judgment before a deficiency had been determined, and that United Companies was not entitled to recoup the appraisal fee or environmental assessment fee under the terms of the loan documents. United Companies confessed error as to these points and responded to the third point only. The district court accepted the confession of error and reversed the trial court on these two points.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS CASE BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT, AS ASSERTED, EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN JERSEY PALM - GROSS, INC. V. PAPER

Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution gives the Supreme Court of Florida discretionary jurisdiction over decisions of district courts of appeal which expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law. This Court explained the meaning of conflict in Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962):

[J]urisdiction to review because of an alleged conflict requires a preliminary determination as to whether the Court of Appeal has announced a decision on a point of law which, if permitted to stand, would be out of harmony with a prior decision of this Court or another Court of Appeal on the same point, . . . such that if the later decision and the earlier decision were rendered by the same Court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter. .

The decision of the district court in the present case was "that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying appellants' motion to amend their pleadings to state an affirmative defense of usury" (A1). Patently, this decision does not expressly and directly conflict with the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Jersey Palm - Gross, Inc. v. Paper</u> "that the insertion of a usury savings clause in a single document does not save *this* lender under *these* circumstances from the usury penalties, nor preclude the trial court's finding of usurious intent." <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u> at D1457 (A5) (emphasis added).

The petitioners would have this Court believe otherwise. They seize upon -- indeed make the focal point of their brief -- an additional, but not essential, reason the district court gave for its decision:

In addition, the mortgage note expressly stated that interest was to be charged only at a lawful percentage. The inclusion of this language in loan documents has been held to warrant dismissal of a usury claim. Forest Creek Dev. Co. v. Liberty Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 531 So. 2d 356, 357 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), review denied, 541 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 1989).

Levine v. United Cos. Life Ins. Co., 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1293 (Fla. 3d DCA June 14, 1994) (A1). Because the district court cited Forest Creek, and because the Fourth District's later decision in Jersey Palm - Gross, Inc. v. Paper, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1455 (Fla. 4th DCA July 6, 1994), certified conflict with Forest Creek, the petitioners say that ipso facto the district court's decision in this case conflicts with Jersey Palm - Gross. But the petitioners' assertion of conflict is flawed because it is based not on the district court's essential and principal holding -- which the petitioners relegate to a footnote -- but rather on this ancillary reference to Forest Creek. As we have said, and as we demonstrate further below, this reference by the district court was not the basis of its decision, and therefore cannot be the basis for a conflict of decisions.

A.

The Difference in the Cases and the Holdings.

In <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u> the trial court had conducted a bench trial in which the defense of usury was raised and fully litigated. It determined that the transaction between the parties, taken as a whole, was usurious. On appeal, the appellant had the burden of showing that the trial court's finding of usury was not supported by the evidence.⁵ In contrast, in the present

⁴A copy of Forest Creek is included in our appendix at A9.

⁵To prevail on a claim of usury, a defendant must prove, among other things, a corrupt intent to take more than the legal rate of interest for the use of the money loaned. <u>Clark v.</u>

case, on the eve of the entry of a final summary judgment of foreclosure, the borrowers moved to amend their answer to raise the affirmative defense of usury. When that motion was denied, their burden on appeal was to demonstrate that the trial court's ruling was an abuse of its discretion. See Feldman v. Feldman, 324 So. 2d 117, 118 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

In determining whether a trial court abuses its discretion in ruling on motions to amend, an appellate court looks to several well-established principles. First, "[t]he amendment of pleadings is a matter within the sound judicial discretion of the trial court. . . . " 2765 South Bayshore Drive Corp. v. Fred Howland, Inc., 212 So. 2d 911, 914 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968). Second, there is a presumption in favor of a trial court's proper exercise of discretion and the burden is on the appellant to clearly show that there was a palpable abuse of discretion. Feldman v. Feldman, 324 So. 2d 117, 118 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). See also Estate of Lieber, 103 So. 2d 192, 196 (Fla. 1958) (appellant has burden to show error or abuse of discretion, which must be made to appear from the record); Costa Bella Dev. Corp. v. Costa Dev. Corp., 445 So. 2d 1090 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) ("a trial court's ruling permitting or denying further amendments to pleadings will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of an abuse of discretion"), cited in Levine v. United Cos. Life Ins. Co., 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1293 (Fla. 3d DCA June 14, 1994) (A1). Third, whether or not discretion has been abused is a question to be evaluated under the totality of the circumstances. Sekot Labs., Inc. v. Gleason, 585 So. 2d 286, 289 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). Fourth, to be ruled an abuse, the trial court's judicial action must be arbitrary, fanciful

<u>Grey</u>, 101 Fla. 1058, 132 So. 832, 834 (1931). The dispute in <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u> was whether or not, under the circumstances of that case and in light of the usury savings provision in the loan document, the defendants had sufficiently proven this element. <u>See Jersey Palm - Gross</u>, at D1455 (A3).

or unreasonable. Roberto v. Allstate Ins. Co., 457 So. 2d 1148, 1150 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). And finally, as the Third District itself made clear, "a trial judge in the exercise of sound discretion may deny an amendment . . . where a case has progressed to a point that the liberality ordinarily to be indulged has diminished." Ruden v. Medalie, 294 So. 2d 403, 406 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), cited in Levine at D1293 (A1). Finding that the trial court had committed no abuse of discretion in denying the petitioners' proposed amendment, the district court affirmed.⁶

В.

The Third District's Reference to <u>Forest Creek</u> Was At Most an Additional, Not an Essential, Reason for Its Holding

Despite their own dilatoriness -- the petitioners' motion to amend came after two partial summary judgments in favor of United Companies and on the eve of a foreclosure sale⁷ -- the petitioners insist that the *only* reason the district court found that the trial court had not abused its discretion was that, since the note contained a usury savings clause, the defense of usury would have been futile. (See Petitioners' Brief at 3 n.2.) That contention of course flies in the face of the district court's reliance on Ruden v. Medalie, 294 So.2d 403, in support of its conclusion that there was no abuse of discretion in denying the motion to amend. Ruden has nothing whatsoever to do with usury or the force of a usury savings clause. Its subject instead

⁶Of course, any contention that the district court ruled incorrectly is not a basis for invoking this Court's jurisdiction. See Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 at 1357-58 (Fla. 1980); Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So. 2d at 887; and Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734-35 (Fla. 1960).

⁷The district court's reliance on <u>Ruden v. Medalie</u>, 294 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), indicates that it considered the lateness of the proposed amendment in reaching its decision.

is late amendments. Its holding is simply that the liberality ordinarily indulged in allowing amendments diminishes as the case moves towards it conclusion. Because the usury the petitioners wanted to assert as a defense was apparent on the face of the loan documents attached to the complaint and thus could have been raised as a defense at the beginning of the case, and because the motion was first made late in the proceedings, the nature and meritoriousness of the proposed amendment were immaterial.

Concededly the district court garnished its holding with this reference to Forest Creek

Dev. Co. v. Liberty Sav. & Loan Ass'n: "In addition, the mortgage note expressly stated that interest was to be charged only at a lawful percentage. The inclusion of this language in loan documents has been held to warrant dismissal of a usury claim." Levine, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1293 (A1) (emphasis added). This buttressing observation was not, however, essential to the district court's conclusion that the trial court had not abused its discretion, and falls far short of creating an express and direct conflict with Forest Creek.

A judge may often give additional reasons for his decisions without wishing to make them part of the *ratio decidendi*; he may not be sufficiently convinced of their cogency as to want them to have the full authority of precedent, and yet may wish to state them so that those who later may have the duty of investigating the same point will start with some guidance.

Rupert Cross, Ratio Decidendi and Obiter Dictum, in The Judicial Process at 800 (Ruggero J. Aldisert, ed., 1976) (quoting Devlin, J.).8

⁸It is arguable that the casual observation about <u>Forest Creek</u> made by the Third District to buttress its *essential* holding is dictum. A fortiori, dictum provides no basis for conflict jurisdiction. <u>See Ciongoli v. State</u>, 337 So. 2d 780, 781 (Fla. 1976) (writ of certiorari based on supposed conflict of decisions discharged where conflicting language was mere obiter dicta). <u>Accord Hillsborough County Aviation Auth. v. Hillsborough County Governmental Employees</u> Ass'n, Inc., 482 So. 2d 505, 509 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

The Decision Does Not Conflict with <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u> Because the Alleged Usurious Rate Was 1% Above the Legal Rate of Interest and Was, Therefore, "Close to the Legal Rate" So As to Make the Usury Savings Clause Determinative

Finally, even if, arguendo, the district court's reference to <u>Forest Creek</u> were a basis upon which it concluded that the trial court had not abused its discretion, the decision below would still not conflict with Jersey Palm - Gross. There, the Fourth District reasoned:

A usury savings clause is one factor to which the finder of fact should look in determining whether all of the circumstances surrounding the transaction support a finding of intent on the part of the lender to take more than the legal rate of interest for the use of the money loaned. Where the actual interest charged is close to the legal rate, . . . the clause may be determinative on the issue of intent.

Jersey Palm - Gross, 19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1457 (A5) (emphasis added).

As the petitioners note in their jurisdictional brief, the loan documents in the present case called for a default interest rate equal to the highest rate allowed by law, 25%. (See Petitioners' Brief at 1.) The petitioners did not, however, mention that the prepayment penalty was 1% of the loan and that the usurious rate upon which they base their complaint was thus 26% -- just 1% over the legal rate.⁹ Therefore, even under Jersey Palm - Gross the usury savings clause in the note could have been "determinative on the issue of intent" because the "actual interest charged [was] close to the legal rate." Jersey Palm - Gross at D1457 (A5). Thus, the district court's observation that "[t]he inclusion of [a savings clause] in loan documents has been held to warrant dismissal of a usury claim," can hardly be said to conflict with -- and indeed under

⁹As the district court noted in its opinion, the trial court denied the award of the prepayment penalty.

the facts of this case is in complete harmony with -- the Fourth District's holding in <u>Jersey Palm</u>
- Gross that a savings clause "may be determinative on the issue of intent."

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the district court's decision in this case does not expressly and directly conflict with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Jersey Palm - Gross</u>. Therefore, this Court has no jurisdiction to review this case, and it should deny the petition for review.